Cut vs Whole Fruit and Vegetable Selection, Consumption, and Waste in K12 School

Lunch

by

Amber James

A Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

Approved April 2021 by the Graduate Supervisory Committee:

Meredith Bruening, Co-Chair Marc Adams, Co-Chair Alexis Koskan

ARIZONA STATE UNIVERSITY

May 2021

ABSTRACT

Objective: Increasing fruit/vegetable (FV) consumption and decreasing waste during the school lunch is a public health priority. Understanding how serving style of FV impacts FV consumption and waste may be an effective means to changing nutrition behaviors in schools. This study examined whether students were more likely to select, consume, and waste FV when FVs were cut vs. whole.

Methods: Baseline data from the ASU School Lunch Study was used to explore associations between cut vs. whole FV serving style and objectively measured FV selection, consumption, and waste and grade level interactions among a random selection of students (n=6804; 47.8% female; 78.8% BIPOC) attending Arizona elementary, middle, and high schools (N=37). Negative binomial regression models evaluated serving style on FV weight (grams) selected, consumed, and wasted, adjusted for sociodemographics and school.

Results: Students were more likely to select cut FVs (IRR=1.11; 95% CI: 1.04, 1.18) and waste cut FVs (IRR=1.20; 95% CI: 1.04, 1.39); however, no differences were observed in the overall consumption of cut vs. whole FVs. Grade-level interactions impacted students' selection of FVs. Middle school students had a significantly higher effect modification for the selection of cut FVs (IRR=1.18; p=0.006) compared to high school and elementary students. Further, high school students had a significantly lower effect modification for the selection of cut FVs (IRR=0.83; p=0.010) compared to middle and elementary students. No other grade-level interactions were observed.

Discussion: Serving style of FV may impact how much FV is selected and wasted, but further research is needed to determine causality between these variables.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am so grateful to have had the opportunity to work with Meg Bruening and Marc Adams on the School Lunch Study, and to get to know Alexis Koskan through this process. I appreciate their support and guidance. I would also like to acknowledge the School Lunch Study research team, who did an amazing job collecting and entering the data used in this study. I am thankful for my wonderful husband, Jerry, who has encouraged and supported me every step of the way on this journey. I could not, and probably would not have done this without him. For my daughter Lyra, I hope she sees that she can do anything she sets her mind to.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
LIST OF	TABLES
CHAPTI	ER
1	INTRODUCTION 1
	Purpose of the Study
	Research Questions and Hypotheses
	Definition of Terms4
2	REVIEW OF LITERATURE
	Overview of Fruit and Vegetable Consumption Among Youth in the US5
	Why Fruit and Vegetable Consumption is Important
	Determinants of Fruit/Vegetable Intake in Children-Outside of School8
	The School Environment and Fruit/Vegetable Consumption12
	Cut vs Whole Fruits and Vegetables16
3	METHODS
	Study Design
	Measures
	Statistical Analysis
4	RESULTS
	Descriptive Statistics
	Serving Style Differences: Cut vs Whole Fruits/Vegetables
5	DISCUSSION
6	CONCLUSION

CHAPTER	Pag
REFERENC	CES4
APPENDIX	
A INS	TITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1.	Fruits and Vegetables Available by Serving Type27
2.	Participant Demographics and Cut vs Whole FV Selection
3.	Mean Weights (g) of FV Selected, Wasted and Consumed
4.	Adjusted Negative Binomial Regressions Assessing the Relationship Between
	Cut and Whole Fruits and Vegetables and Fruit and Vegetable Selection, Waste,
	and Consumption among Elementary, Middle, and High Schools Students in
	Arizona

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Children and adolescents in America do not eat enough fruits and vegetables (FV).^{1,2} According to the 2020-2025 *Dietary Guidelines for Americans (DGAs)*, 75% of Americans consume diets low in fruits and vegetables.³ They also report that Healthy Eating Index scores are the lowest among people ages 5-18 years old.³ The amount of FV consumed by K-12 students has been rising since the early 2000's, thanks to initiatives such as the Farm-to-School grant program, the increased number of farmers markets, and the National School Lunch Program (NSLP). However, FV consumption still falls below recommended amounts.^{4, 5} Eating fruits and vegetables has been linked to many health benefits, including better weight control, a healthier gut, decreased cardiovascular disease risk, decreased cancer risk, and decreased type 2 diabetes risk.^{4, 6, 7} Fruits and vegetables are also a good source of vitamins, minerals and fiber.^{8, 9} Since many kids in the US are eating lunch in school, it is worth investigating how to increase FV consumption and decrease FV waste in this setting.¹⁰

Schools are required to include a serving of fruits or vegetables on each tray in order to receive reimbursement for the meal from the NSLP, according to the Healthy Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010 (HHFKA).¹¹ Lunch periods are typically short, though, so peeling and eating whole FV may not be a practical way to increase consumption of FV.¹² Schools may also offer nutrition education, salad bars, farm-to-school programs, and free and reduced-cost meals through the NSLP, in order to encourage increased FV consumption among their students.

Only a few studies have looked at the serving style (cut or whole) that kids are more likely to select and eat.¹³⁻¹⁵ In 2009, Swanson et al. compared the impact of serving sliced apples and oranges to serving whole fruit on elementary schools children's fruit consumption.¹³ In 2012, Olsen and colleagues studied children's preferred FV size and cutting style, based on ratings of images of FV cut in different ways.¹⁴ The next year, Wansink et al. studied the impact of introducing apple slicers in school cafeterias to assess if slicing fruit impacted fruit sales, consumption and waste.¹⁵ Overall, findings from these studies demonstrated that students preferred and/or consumed more FV, and wasted less food when FV were cut. No studies have looked at cut vs whole FV selection, consumption and waste by weight. Data on FV serving style can help school food service staff better understand how to prepare fruits and vegetables to ensure they will be eaten.

Purpose of the Study

This study is a secondary data analysis from the School Lunch Study,¹⁶ a larger plate waste study that examined fruit and vegetable consumption in schools that have salad bars and FV marketing. The purpose of the current study is to examine whether there is an association among student FV selection, consumption, and waste when the FV have been served cut up, as opposed to served whole. The results of this study will add to the data on what serving style elementary, middle, and high school students may be more likely to eat, given their limited lunch periods, utensils, and motor skills.

Research Aim and Hypotheses

Study aim: To determine the association between serving style (whole or cut) of FV and FV selection, consumption, and waste among students in elementary, middle, and high school.

Research question 1: Does the serving style of fruits and vegetables in school lunch affect how much FV are selected, consumed, and wasted during the lunch period?

H₁: Students' FV selection and consumption will be higher when FVs are cut as opposed to whole.

H₂: Students' FV waste will be lower when FVs are cut as opposed to whole. *Research question 2:* Is there a significant interaction between serving style selection, consumption and waste of FV and student grade group (elementary school grades 1-5, middle school grades 6-8, and high school grades 9-12)?

H₃: Students in elementary school will select and consume more FV when the FVs are served cut or sliced as opposed to whole.

H4: Students in elementary school will waste less FV when the FVs are served cut or sliced as opposed to whole.

H₅: Students in middle and high school select and consume more whole FV and have less FV waste when their FV is whole.

Definition of Terms

<u>Plate waste study:</u> A study that measures the amount of edible food that subjects discard after a meal

Whole fruit: Fruit that has been minimally processed, if processed, at all

Whole vegetable: Vegetables that have been minimally processed, if processed at all

Sliced/cut fruit: Fruit that has been cut into at least two pieces before being served

Sliced/cut vegetable: Vegetables that have been cut into at least two pieces

Food accessibility: Refers to foods being prepared in a way that makes them ready to eat

Food availability: Refers to the presence of foods in a setting

Feeding style: The attitude(s) that parents or other authority figures have in regard to what and how much a child eats

<u>Feeding practices:</u> The techniques a parent or authority figure use in order to get a child to eat or not eat certain foods

<u>Fruit/vegetable selection:</u> The fruits/vegetables that students take from the serving line **<u>Fruit/vegetable consumption:</u>** The amount of fruits/vegetables that students eat during lunch

Fruit/vegetable waste: The amount of fruits/vegetables left on the tray or meal container to be discarded after the lunch period

CHAPTER 2

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Overview of FV Consumption Among Youth in US

The United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) recommends that children and adolescents ages 2-18 years old eat 1 to 2 ¹/₂ cups of fruit per day and 1 to 4 cups of vegetables per day, depending on their age, sex and activity level.³ However, many Americans in that age range are not meeting the minimum recommended amounts.³ The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) data from 2007 to 2010 indicated that Americans of all ages consume an average of 1.1 cups of fruit per day and 1.5 cups of vegetables per day.² Children ages 4-18 who were surveyed during this period consumed an average of 0.8-1.5 cups of fruit per day and 0.8-1.3 cups of vegetables per day.² Results from the 2019 Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System (YRBSS) results from the CDC showed that 6.3% of high school students reported not eating any fruit or drinking fruit juice, which is up from 5.6% in 2017.¹⁷ In this same survey, the percentage of high schoolers who reported not eating vegetables (other than fried potatoes) had risen from 7.2% in 2017 to 7.9% in 2019.¹⁷

One study analyzed NHANES data from 1999 to 2016, comparing diet quality scores among American youth ages 2-19 years old.¹⁸ Study authors found that while diet quality had significantly improved over this time frame, a majority of children still had low-quality diets.¹⁸ Another study which analyzed NHANES data found that fruit (but not vegetable) consumption decreased with age.¹⁹ US high school students were surveyed in 2010 about their daily fruit and vegetable intake.²⁰ The questionnaire asked students how many times per day they ate fruits and vegetables.²⁰ Approximately one

third of the students reported consuming fruits and vegetables less than once per day (28.5% and 33.2%, respectively).²⁰ Black and Hispanic students had the greatest rate of reporting eating FV less than once per day.²⁰ In another study, US high school students were surveyed at around age sixteen and again at around age twenty about their FV intake, taste preferences, and fast-food consumption frequency.²¹ Researchers found a positive correlation between liking FV at baseline and intake of FV at follow-up.²¹ Researchers found a negative correlation between fast-food intake frequency at baseline and FV intake at follow-up.²¹ This study suggested that students who, as teens, liked FV were more likely to consume FV as they get older. Conversely, teens who consumed more fast food were less likely to eat FV as young adults.²¹

Why Fruit and Vegetable Consumption is Important

Eating FVs as part of a healthy diet is recommended as a way to lower the risk of developing some of the most prevalent and costly diseases, including cancer, type II diabetes and cardiovascular disease.^{4, 6, 7} Fruits and vegetables also contain essential vitamins and minerals and are a source of fiber, which have health benefits.⁸

Approximately 34.2 million people in the US had diabetes in 2018.²² An estimated 23,000 of that were children and adolescents under the age of 20 years old with type 2 diabetes.²² The incidence of type 2 diabetes in children and adolescents has significantly increased each year since 2003 across all races except non-Hispanic whites.²² Direct and indirect costs of diagnosed diabetes in the US were around \$327 billion in 2017.²³ People diagnosed with diabetes usually pay an estimated \$9,600 per year in medical costs related to diabetes.²³ However, healthy eating patterns, which

include eating fruits and vegetables, have been linked to reduced risk of developing this disease.⁴

The prevalence of cardiovascular disease (CVD) in the US was 48% in 2013-16.²⁴ Direct and indirect costs of CVD in the US were estimated to be \$351.2 billion.²⁴ These costs could reach \$1.1 trillion by 2035.²⁴ Eating foods high in fiber, such as fruits and vegetables, is recommended to prevent CVD.²⁵

The United States National Cancer Institute estimated that approximately 1.8 million Americans would be diagnosed with cancer in 2020, and there would be more than 600,000 cancer-related deaths in the US.²⁶ The estimated cost to the US for cancer care was \$147.3 billion in 2017, an amount that is expected to increase as the prevalence of cancer grows and new treatments are needed.²⁷ However, there is strong evidence that eating a healthy diet can reduce cancer risk.⁷

Fruits and vegetables also contain vitamins, minerals and fiber, which have beneficial health effects.^{8,9} Vegetables are high in potassium, vitamins A, B₆, C, E and K, as well as folate, thiamin, niacin and choline.⁴ Folate helps with red blood cell formation, and potassium helps keep blood pressure normal.²⁸ Fruits are high in vitamin C and fiber⁴. Vitamin C helps with the growth and repair of tissues in the body.²⁹ Fiber can help lower blood cholesterol levels and improve gastrointestinal tract health.^{9, 29}

These are just a few reasons why fruit and vegetable consumption is important. Since millions of American children and teens eat school lunch for most of the year,¹⁰ it is important and worthwhile to look at factors in this setting that might affect and improve fruit and vegetable (FV) intake, so that American children and adolescents can benefit from the numerous healthy aspects of fruits and vegetables.

Determinants of FV Intake in Children-Outside of School

Before children begin attending school, they form early taste preferences and eating habits at home.³⁰ Therefore, it is important to look at factors from the family and home environment that may impact what children prefer to eat when they go to school.

Genetics

Genetics effect taste and food consumption, and should be considered as one factor that influences fruit and vegetable consumption in children and adolescents. De Castro et al studied identical and fraternal twins and found that genetics may be associated with palatability of certain foods, as well as daily energy density intake.^{31, 32} A 2006 study found strong evidence that food preferences can be inherited.³³ Specific genes that influence taste perception are being studied, too. The TAS2R38 gene has been linked to how intensely people experience the bitterness of a food.³⁴ Possessing the supertaster variant of the TAS2R38 gene may lead children to consume more sweet, energy-dense foods than children who are nontasters.³⁴ These studies further support the idea that a child's like or dislike of fruits and vegetables may be, in part, due to their genes.

Parental Modelling, Feeding Style and Feeding Practices

Children consume approximately two-thirds of their food at or from home, so it is possible that interactions between parents and their children shape food preferences and meal-time behaviors.^{35, 36} Children who observe their parents eating fruits and vegetables are more likely to also eat them.³⁷ The HOME Plus randomized controlled trial found that parents who modelled eating fruits and vegetables reported that their children were

more likely to meet recommended FV serving amounts.³⁸ Mothers and daughters in particular have been observed to have very similar diets. Lee et al observed that when daughters reported consuming a high-fat diet, they and their mothers typically reported less consumption of fiber, vitamins and minerals that are commonly found in fruits and vegetables.³⁹

Parental feeding style, which differs from parenting style, can also affect a child's relationship with food.⁴⁰ Three common categories of feeding styles include authoritarian, authoritative, and permissive. Parents with an authoritarian style are stricter about food consumption and permissive parents are considered to be lax and neglectful about food consumption, while authoritative parents create a harmonious, communicative eating environment.⁴⁰ Permissive feeding styles have been linked to lower fruit and vegetable consumption among preschool-aged children.⁴¹

Feeding practices are techniques that parents use to get their children to eat or not eat certain foods.⁴⁰ Inappropriate feeding practices include restriction of food, rewarding behavior with food and pressuring the child to eat. Bante et al found that while the use of inappropriate feeding practices may increase the intake of fruits and vegetables among preschool children, it decreases their preference for fruits and vegetables.⁴² Parents who create a negative emotional atmosphere at mealtime by pressuring their children or complaining about them not eating certain foods are also shaping their children's food preferences.^{43, 44} Galloway et al specifically studied how pressuring children to eat affected their intake and emotions towards vegetable soups.⁴⁴ They found that there was no difference in intake when pressure was or was not applied, but that children expressed negative feelings about the soups more often when under pressure to eat them.⁴⁴ These

feeding practices may accomplish the desired task of increasing FV intake at the time, but they do not help the child learn to self-regulate and build healthy long-term relationships with foods.

Cultural and Social Influences

Briefly, it is important to also keep in mind the cultural and social components of eating pattern development that occur outside of school. Consuming fast-food and eating outside of the home are a major part of the American culture, and in 2018, consumers' average yearly expenditures on food away from home accounted for 44% of total food spending.⁴⁵ It has been estimated that children ages 2-19 in the US consume one-third of their daily calories from foods prepared outside of the home.⁴⁶ For American teens and preteens, eating more fast food has been associated with less FV intake.⁴⁷ Watching television while eating, another aspect of American culture, has been found to decrease FV intake.⁴⁸ Eating meals as a family has been linked to healthier diets in children and adolescents.⁴⁹

Food Neophobia and Exposure

Food neophobia, or the reluctance to eat new foods, is a common barrier to adequate FV intake in children.⁵⁰ Research has implied that having an initial aversion to foods is a survival measure.⁵¹ This may be overcome by having positive experiences with foods. Birch et al examined the effects of repeated visual exposure to a food compared to repeated taste exposures in children.⁵² They found that visual exposure alone did not seem to enhance acceptability of a food. However, repeated taste experiences did make the food more preferable to children.⁵² Wardle et al measured children's likes and dislikes of certain vegetables and how this may change over time.

They tested if repeated taste exposure or being rewarded for consuming vegetables most impacted children's liking of the vegetable.⁵³ Study results found that exposure led to greater liking and intake of vegetables than the offer of a reward.⁵³ Maier et al studied the effects of repeated exposures to vegetables on 7-month old infants.⁵⁴ They had parents feed their infants a disliked vegetable puree along with a liked vegetable puree, eight times. By the eighth exposure, the intake of the initially disliked vegetable had increased at a rate of 17g/exposure.⁵⁴ Sixty-three percent of the infants were still responding well to the originally disliked vegetable nine months later, indicating that the repeated exposures had led to long-term acceptance of the vegetable.⁵⁴ This research implies that the more a child is exposed to a fruit or vegetable, the more likely they will be to consume and even like it. Therefore, repeated exposures to FV is important for children.

Fruit and Vegetable Availability/Accessibility at Home

One of the most evident determinants of fruit and vegetable intake among children and adolescents is availability and accessibility of FV in their home environment.⁵⁵ Availability refers to the presence of these food items in the home, while accessibility refers to the foods being prepared in a way that they can be readily eaten. Studies have found that children consume more fruits and vegetables when these foods are both available and accessible in the home.³⁷ Availability of fruits and vegetables has also been linked to parental feeding style. Homes with authoritative parents tend to have greater FV availability, while parents with an authoritarian feeding style tend to have fewer fruits and vegetables on hand.⁵⁶ Ding et al looked at the home and community food environments of children and adolescents from three major US cities to see if there

were associations between these environments and FV intake.⁵⁷ They found that home availability of fruits and vegetables was positively correlated to intake, and also that household income was positively associated with availability of fruits, vegetables and overall more healthful foods in the home.⁵⁷ These researchers did not find any connections between community environment and FV intake among the children and adolescents.⁵⁷

The School Environment and Fruit and Vegetable Consumption

An estimated 56.4 million students are enrolled in elementary and secondary schools in the US⁵⁸. While the number of school days varies by state, most operate for approximately 180 days, which is almost half of a year.⁵⁹ During the school year millions of kids and adolescents rely on school food service programs for lunch, breakfast and in some cases, snacks and supper.¹⁰ In the US, many schools rely heavily on state and federal government funding, and are required to follow certain state and federal foodrelated policies in order to receive funding.⁶⁰ For example, the National School Lunch Program (NSLP), which had 94,542 schools and almost 29 million students (approximately 53.5% of enrolled students) participating in FY 2020, is a government assistance program that schools rely on.¹⁰ This program, which began in 1946, reimburses schools that serve free or reduced-cost meals to eligible students, in the form of either cash or commodity foods.⁶⁰ In order to receive reimbursement, schools must serve meals that meet federal guidelines set by the Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act (HHFKA) of 2010.⁶⁰ HHFKA established reimbursement rates and meal pattern guidelines, which include increasing the variety of fruits and vegetables offered and reducing sodium and saturated fat in meals.¹¹ The meal pattern guidelines require schools

to make a fruit and two vegetable components available to students in quarter-cup to halfcup portions. It also stipulates that five vegetable subgroups must be served each week: dark green, red/orange, starchy, legume, and other. The other category includes vegetables such as cucumbers, celery and 100% vegetable juice. HHFKA has been linked to an improvement in the nutritional quality of lunches served under NSLP, which in turn means better nutrition for students from low-income homes in America.⁶¹ It is important to consider these guidelines when looking at how fruit and vegetable consumption can be increased in schools, so that methods of doing so do not conflict with the policies schools have to follow and the limited funds they have available.

Strategies in School Cafeterias to Increase Fruit and Vegetable Intake

Nutrition Knowledge and Promotion

Patterson and colleagues examined the role that increasing FV promotion or education had on FV selection and knowledge in young elementary students.^{62, 63} In one study, a registered dietitian provided second-graders with a series of nutrition classes.⁶² They tested participants' nutrition knowledge before and after the program was implemented, and measured FV selection in the cafeteria during the time that classes were being offered. Test scores increased by 80% and FV selection increased 11% and remained elevated the month after the program concluded.⁶² In their second study, a registered dietitian worked with the school to promote fruits and vegetables to students in kindergarten through second grade in a variety of ways for one day.⁶³ Promotion methods included announcements, signage and rewards for participating in the promotion.⁶³ Researchers measured FV selection the day of the promotion, as well as one month prior and one month after the promotion day. Fruit selection increased by

over 200% on the day of the promotion and remained higher than baseline by nearly 50% at the one-month follow up.⁶³ Vegetable selection increased by 360% and remained nearly 35% higher than baseline at one month.⁶³

These studies demonstrated that FV promotion and education may help increase the selection of these foods.

Availability and Accessibility of FV in Schools

Improving availability and accessibility to FV as a strategy to increase consumption has been studied and is consistently associated with greater consumption of FV among children.⁶⁴ A Mississippi study looked at providing a variety of free fruits and vegetables to students at various times throughout the school year, making the FV more available.⁶⁵ They found that students reported liking the program and trying new fruits and vegetables, and that they associated the FV that they were eating with better health.⁶⁵ However, quantitative data on how much FV the students consumed throughout the experiment was not collected.⁶⁵

Making fruits and vegetables more convenient to students could improve their accessibility. One of the primary reasons people purchase and consume fast-food is due to its convenience.⁶⁶ Researchers used the theory of present-biased preferences (current benefits or costs outweigh future benefits or costs) to attempt to increase FV selection and consumption in a high school cafeteria by making healthier food options more convenient to students.⁶⁶ After implementing a more convenient and "healthier" cafeteria service line, the research team found that while students did select more healthy foods than at baseline, they did not consume more healthy foods than at baseline.⁶⁶ The findings of this

study indicate that making healthy food options more convenient may be one way to increase selection of fruits and vegetables in the high school setting.

Policy

School-level policy may influence fruit and vegetable intake among students. In a study conducted in Minnesota schools in 2014, researchers examined the relationship between school policies that encourage healthy lifestyles and self-reported student anthropometrics and behaviors over a four-year period. They found that for each additional policy that a school had in place, students' reported FV consumption significantly increased, and sugary beverage intake decreased.⁶⁷ Policies included making healthy foods and drinks such as fruits, vegetables and 100% fruit juice more available and unhealthy items such as candy, soda and salty snacks less available.⁶⁷ This study suggests that policies set at the school level may be one way to increase student fruit and vegetable consumption, especially among older students.⁶⁷

Time allotted to eat is also an aspect of accessibility.⁶⁸ Districts typically set the school day schedule in order to maximize time in the classroom. The Food and Nutrition staff who plan the lunch menu often do not have a say in how long students get to eat the food. Cohen et al studied plate waste and time to eat at four elementary and middle schools, and observed that when students had less than 20 minutes to eat, they were 44% less likely to select a fruit than students who had at least 25 minutes to eat.⁶⁹ Students with less than 20 minutes to eat also consumed less of their entree, milk and vegetable compared to students with at least 25 minutes to eat. The American Academy of Pediatrics recommends that children get at least 20 minutes to eat lunch, not including the time it takes to go through the serving line and wash hands.⁶⁹ More research on this

aspect of school lunch is needed to better understand how the length of school lunch affects the choices students make and the amount of food they consume. Students may not be able to eat whole fruits and vegetables in the time allotted, so serving FV in a manner that is more accessible may increase consumption.

Cut vs Whole Fruits and Vegetables

Previous research has examined whether or not slicing fruits and vegetables a certain way, or at all, impacts FV intake and waste at school lunch. However, this research is not exhaustive. Most of the research has been conducted with fruits such as apples and oranges and is limited to elementary and middle school students.^{13, 15, 70}

Swanson et al looked at the effects of slicing apples and oranges on fruit selection and consumption in 2009.¹³ Their subjects were 800 elementary students in one rural Kentucky school. They had two data collection days, where all students who ate school lunch those days were included in the study. Participant selection was not randomized. The school cafeteria staff reported that they normally served whole fruit at lunch, so serving sliced apples and oranges was novel for the students.

At data collection, researchers tagged lunch trays and took digital photographs of each plate after the student exited the serving line. Then, they took another photograph of each tray after lunch was over and matched it to the before picture. No tray weights were gathered. Waste was estimated using visual observation by two trained analysts. Estimates were averaged to determine how much was consumed on each tray.¹³

While selection of fruits was low, overall (22.6% of students took whole apples, 18.8% took sliced apples, 5.5% took whole oranges, 16.2% took sliced oranges), the results of this study indicated that students would be more likely to select sliced oranges

than whole oranges.¹³ There was no significant difference in the selection of apples. When sliced fruit was offered, only half of the fruit was served. Therefore, when looking at consumption, whole fruits counted as two servings, and sliced fruit counted as one serving.

Researchers were able to analyze differences in selection and consumption between grades. Younger students were more likely to select sliced oranges than whole oranges.¹³ They also consumed more of the orange when it was sliced than when it was whole.¹³ Older students were more likely to select whole apples and consume at least one serving, or half an apple.

This study was conducted before the HHFKA was enacted, so meals did not necessarily have to include a fruit or vegetable in order to count as a reimbursable meal. The low selection of fruits before slicing was introduced could therefore be attributed to either it not being required, or the whole fruit being less desirable to students. The research team also concluded that while fruits were made available to students, a whole, unpeeled orange could not be considered accessible.¹³ This study had limitations, including collecting data from only one school. Also, not obtaining tray weights before or after consumption limits the validity of this study.

Another study involving the comparison of sliced vegetables was conducted by Olsen et al. in 2012.¹⁴ They looked at how appealing kids found various serving styles of vegetables, as well as which vegetables the children preferred the taste of. Study subjects were 138 children ages 9-12 from Copenhagen, Denmark.¹⁴ The students were presented with pictures of a variety of fruits and vegetables that had been cut into different shapes and sizes and asked to use a visual analogue score to rank how well they liked each

serving style. The results indicated that large chunks were preferred over the small whole vegetables. Students liked slices and sticks equally, but students preferred FV cut into the shape of stars.¹⁴

Researchers concluded that kids want their vegetables to be cut, and if possible, into fun shapes and figures like stars.¹⁴ However, they also recognized that once a vegetable is sliced up, there are added concerns over storage, shelf-life, product durability, labor and waste.¹⁴ When taking all of this into account, researchers concluded that serving vegetables cut into slices or sticks would probably be easier to prepare, and still acceptable to kids.¹⁴ Another important takeaway from this study is that size of the vegetable did not seem to matter to the children. Several "miniature" versions of vegetables have been marketed to kids, but this might not be necessary when getting a child to eat vegetables. Limitations of this study included peer influence, a narrow population sample, and the fact that students were rating their preferences for shapes and sizes based on visual representations, instead of having tangible items to hold and eat. The participants were all Caucasian and living in Denmark, so the results of this study cannot be globally extrapolated.

Another study on how pre-slicing fruit may impact children's selection and intake was published in 2013 by Wansink et al.¹⁵ Researchers first interviewed 23 elementary and middle school students to narrow down the top two reasons why they avoided whole fruits at lunch. They found that most students considered whole fruits to be inconvenient to eat, especially if they had dental issues. Older students considered whole fruits to be too messy to eat in front of their peers. The researchers then conducted a pilot study with students from eight elementary schools in Wayne County, New York. They provided a

fruit slicer to these schools and told cafeteria staff to use it upon request. After slicers were added and used in schools, sales of fruit increased at all eight intervention sites. The researchers concluded that convenience could have a significant effect on behavior when it came to how fruits are served in schools.¹⁵

Authors then conducted a cluster randomized controlled trial with six middle schools (2150 students) in Wayne County, NY. In this county, 13-44% of the students qualified for either free or reduced lunch pricing.¹⁵ Three schools were randomly chosen to implement fruit slicers for apples. Two of the intervention schools served a whole, segmented apple in cups, and the third intervention school served sliced apples on a tray and let students take as many as they wanted. Therefore, at the third school, researchers had no way of knowing what the "before" amount of apple was, but they could see how much was thrown away. Tray waste data was collected, and researchers visually assessed how much of the apple was wasted by either estimating how much apple was remaining from the whole fruit, or how many slices were remaining. The results of this study indicated that, after slicers were introduced at the schools, average daily apple sales went up by 71%.¹⁵ The amount of apple wasted decreased, but not by a significant amount. The percentage of students who wasted half or more of their apple decreased significantly, though. The research team estimated that the percentage of students who ate more than half of their apple went up by 73% at the intervention schools.¹⁵ However, it is not possible to tell if the missing fruit was actually eaten.

Strengths of this study include it taking place in a school cafeteria environment, as well as finding a potential solution to food waste. It also addresses practical reasons why students may avoid eating fruits and vegetables during school lunch. Limitations include

the potential that the sliced fruit was a novelty, which was addressed by collecting data on two occasions, and not weighing the whole apples before and after lunch. It is easy to see how many slices were consumed, but visually estimating how much apple was eaten is not the most objective way to gather data. This study was helpful in testing a simple way to potentially increase fruit selection and intake by elementary and middle school students.

Another study on the topic of sliced fruits and vegetables took place in Germany.⁷¹ The schools included in the study took part in the European Union School Fruit Scheme (SFS), and were already receiving fresh, unprepared FV. Several schools were having students prep and distribute the FV to their peers, providing students with a learning opportunity, but also requiring time, preparation, storage space and equipment, which might not be feasible for all schools. Some schools were looking at moving to precut, packaged FV. Before switching over to the ready-to-eat, packaged products, von Germeten and his team conducted a study to see if that was acceptable to students.⁷¹ They recruited children between the ages of eight to ten years old from an elementary school. Students usually washed, sliced, prepared and served the fruits and vegetables that they received at morning break time. Both the intervention and control groups completed a questionnaire about their liking of different FV before the intervention began. Then, for 6 weeks, the intervention group received pre-sliced, individually packaged FV. After the intervention period, the research team asked students to complete another questionnaire about their liking of the FV they had been served.⁷¹ Overall liking scores decreased significantly from baseline to post-intervention in the intervention group. Other questions captured students' feelings on having to put in the

effort to prepare and serve the whole FV, and the importance of equal serving sizes, a feature of the pre-cut FV. Responses indicated that most students enjoyed the preparation process they usually went through. The kids did indicate liking the perceived greater equality in portion sizes that pre-cut FV provided. They did not like the increase in waste from the packaging of the pre-sliced FV. Only 23% of the intervention group reported that they would like to have pre-sliced FV in the future.⁷¹

This study brings up several important points to consider when transitioning from whole fruits to sliced fruits in an elementary school setting. First, if students are used to fresh, whole, or fresh-cut FV, they may not accept industrially-prepared and packaged FV. Not all FV are available in pre-cut, packaged form, so variety of FV is limited. Pre-cut FV also come with more packaging, and therefore waste, than whole fruits and vegetables that are prepared onsite. Also, it appears that students may enjoy preparing foods for their classmates, which could solve the issue of the labor involved in providing fresh-cut FV in the US.

In 2016, Handforth and colleagues conducted a plate waste study in order to examine selection and consumption of FV at the elementary, middle and high school level.⁷² They compared photographs taken after lunch trays with photos of standard prelunch servings, and visually estimated the consumption amount to the nearest 10%. Results were adjusted for by grade level, gender and school. They found that elementary and middle school students consumed less whole FV than high school students.⁷² They also found that certain categories of FV were more selected and consumed, while others were wasted more frequently. Whole fruits and raw vegetable were selected, but also wasted more often. Canned fruits, fresh-cut fruits and juices were most selected and

consumed. Canned vegetables and dried fruits were least selected. The researchers recommended that elementary and middle schools remove whole fruits from their menus and replace them with fresh-cut fruits. They also recommended that a greater variety of FV be served across all grade levels to improve selection and consumption.⁷²

In 2017, a study was conducted where several interventions were implemented at once.⁷⁰ Researchers recruited two elementary schools in Hennepin County, Minnesota to participate. Both schools had over 50% of student populations qualify for free or reduced lunch rates. Researchers implemented multiple strategies for increasing FV consumption, simultaneously, for a duration of twelve months. The interventions included using black trays and bowls for serving FV, slicing apples into wedges, adding attractive labels on the service line, installing menu boards with the menu of the day displayed, and placing the FV either at the beginning of the lunch line, or near the register.⁷⁰ Researchers collected data at each site at baseline, and after the new strategies were implemented. They measured they weight of the trays (in grams) before and after children ate their meals.

Apples were the only item to be sliced, However, researchers also implemented the new label strategy, the menu board strategy and the black tray/bowl strategy with apples. Therefore, while the results showed that apple selection did increase after the interventions were applied, it is impossible to tell if that was due to the slicing, or the other strategies.⁷⁰ Further research implementing only one strategy at a time would be helpful in determining which one actually had the most impact, and if all were necessary.

Most recently, in 2019 Ang and colleagues examined the effect of environmental factors present during school lunch on FV consumption among second and third graders.⁷³ They collected plate waste data from 14 elementary schools in New York City,

and visually estimated FV consumption. They examined the impact of ten school lunch environmental factors including when the lunch period occurred in relation to recess, if fruits were sliced or pre-cut, duration of school lunch, and number of FV options available to students on how much FV students consumed. Results were adjusted for individual- and school-level demographics. They concluded that slicing fruits could increase fruit consumption at school lunch.⁷³

Summary

Most youth do not consume recommended amounts and the reasons why children may or may not consume FV are complex. Some research has been conducted to see if slicing FV has any impact on how much FV students select, consume, and waste, but more research should be done in this area, and on a wider range of age groups, to better understand whether or not this is an effective strategy to increase FV consumption and decrease FV waste.

CHAPTER 3

METHODS

Study Design

This was a secondary data cross-sectional analysis from the School Lunch Study, a larger cluster factorial randomized trial conducted to assess the effectiveness of salad bars and FV marketing on increasing FV consumption in Arizona elementary, middle and high schools.¹⁶ The research team recruited a total of 37 schools in Arizona to participate in the study.¹⁶ Researchers then randomly selected individual students (N=6804) to participate in the study by their school ID number prior to data collection. The team conducted data collections at each school three times during the school year. The students who were selected in the randomization process were then identified, assented, and given a barcoded lunch tray the same size and shape as the ones used in their school cafeteria. Student participants were instructed to select their lunch as usual, and then stop by a weigh station to have their lunch weighed and photographed before they ate anything. Then, participants were instructed to bring their tray and all trash to a designated tray depot once they had eaten all they wanted. Those who completed all data collection requirements were given a small incentive, which varied based on ageappropriateness. Principals at each school provided written informed consent. Students provided verbal assent. All study protocols were approved by the Arizona State University Institutional Review Board.

For this sub-study, baseline data from the School Lunch Study was pulled and examined. Seven pre-lunch trays and four post-lunch trays had to be eliminated due to weights not being coded (-777). Fifty trays had a negative weight difference greater than

2 grams, indicating an error in the weighing process. Thirty-six trays had a weight difference of -2 grams, which was within the margin of error, and the difference was changed to 0 grams. This study had a total of 2177 lunch measurements.

Measures

Whole vs cut fruits and vegetables. There were 42 varieties of fruits and vegetables served at baseline data collections for the School Lunch Study. Determining whether the items was considered cut or whole for the purposes of this study was done based on the amount of processing the item had gone through. For example, applesauce was considered cut, while cherry tomatoes were considered as being whole. Table 1 lists all of the FV served by cut or whole status. Some FV were served as a mix of cut and whole, and have been categorized as both. Once the FV was categorized, trays were coded as having "cut" FV present, "whole" FV present, "both", or "none". The post-lunch weight of the FV on the tray was deducted from the initial FV weight to determine the FV consumed. Mean weight differences for the "cut" trays and "whole" trays were then compared in adjusted negative binomial regression models. Trays with both whole and cut FV did not make up a significant portion of the sample, but did account for 15.7% of the trays (n=416).

Fruit and vegetable selection, consumption, and waste. FV selection, consumption and waste were the primary measures for this study. Trained research assistants took photographs and captured weights of trays after the student selected their lunch and exited the service line, and again, after the student had eaten what they wanted from the tray. The pre-lunch tray photographs showed the full lunch and its weight, and then the fruit and vegetables only, and their weight. The post-lunch photographs showed the

remainder of the full lunch, and its weight, and the remainder of the fruits and vegetables, and their weight. Post-lunch FV weights included rinds and peels. Since each tray barcode was scanned at pre-lunch and post-lunch, before and after photographs and weights could be linked together. Weight was measured with a digital scale to the nearest 2 grams. Photographs were taken with a digital camera that was mounted on a tripod above the tray and scale.

Covariates. Grade grouping is the primary covariate being used in this study. The groups include elementary students (grades 1-5), junior high students (grades 6-8) and high school students (grades 9-12). Student demographics such as gender, race/ethnicity, and free/reduced lunch status were also collected, and adjusted for in the analyses. Within-school similarities were adjusted for, as well.

Statistical Analysis

Trays were sorted by student ID number and tray ID number. Post-lunch fruit and vegetable weight (waste) was deducted from the pre-lunch fruit and vegetable weight (selection), and each tray ID was coded as having cut FV (1) or whole FV (0) present. The weight difference represents the amount of FV consumed. Chi-squared tests were used to compare cut, whole and overall FV selection by key variable. Two-sample T-tests were used to examine the mean amounts of FV selected, consumed and wasted (in grams) overall, and at each grade grouping (elementary, middle, high school). Adjusted negative binomial regression models were used to examine differences in FV selection, consumption, and waste by serving style (cut vs whole). Data were adjusted for sociodemographics and the clustering of students within schools. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05.

Fruit or Vegetable Name	Cut, Whole, Both
Apple crisps, packaged	Cut
Apple, sliced, packaged	Cut
Apple, whole	Whole
Applesauce, packaged	Cut
Apricots, frozen, pureed, packaged	Cut
Baby Carrots, packaged	Cut
Banana, whole	Whole
Bell peppers, sliced, bagged	Cut
Broccoli florets	Cut
Broccoli florets, celery sticks, baby carrots	Cut
Broccoli florets, cucumbers, sliced, and	Both
cherry tomatoes, whole	
Cantaloupe, sliced, bagged	Cut
Carrots, sticks	Cut
Cauliflower, florets	Cut
Celery, sticks, bagged	Cut
Cherry tomatoes, whole	Whole
Chickpeas	Cut
Clementine, whole	Whole
Coleslaw, cupped	Cut
Corn, cooked	Cut
Craisins, packaged	Cut
Cucumber, sliced	Cut
Fruit cup, frozen, pureed, packaged	Cut
Grapes, packaged	Whole
Honeydew melon and cantaloupe, cubed	Cut
Iceberg lettuce	Cut
Jalapenos, sliced	Cut
Lettuce, onion, tomato	Cut
Mandarin oranges, canned	Cut
Mixed fruit, diced, canned	Cut
Orange, halved	Cut
Orange, pieces	Cut
Orange, quartered	Cut
Orange, wedges	Cut
Orange, whole	Whole
Peaches, sliced, canned	Cut
Pear, diced, canned	Cut
Pear, sliced, canned	Cut
Pear, whole	Whole
Pickle slices, whole	Cut
Pineapple, cubed, fresh	Cut
Pineapple, diced, canned	Cut

Table 1. Fruits and Vegetables Available by Serving Type

Radishes, sliced, bagged	Cut	
Raisins	Cut	
Salsa, cupped	Cut	
Side salad, iceberg	Cut	
Side salad, mixed greens	Cut	
Strawberries, whole	Whole	
Strawberry, puree, frozen	Cut	
Tomato, diced	Cut	
Watermelon, cubed	Cut	
Watermelon, sliced, bagged	Cut	
Zucchini, sticks, bagged	Cut	_

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

This sample was diverse with 79% of participants being non-white (Table 2). Approximately, 52% of the sample were male and 84% received free or reduced-price lunches. See Table 2 for additional demographic information.

Overall, a mean weight of 135.5 grams of cut FV were selected, as compared to a mean weight of 117.8 grams of whole FV selected (p=0.001). Chi-squared analyses also indicated significant differences among school grade groups and cut fruit selection: among the students who selected cut fruit, 43% were elementary students, 30% were middle school students, and 27% were high school students. At the elementary level, a significantly less mean weight of cut FV was taken (119.0g) than of whole FV taken (137.4g) (p=0.041). The mean weight of cut FV taken (155.3g, 140.0g) was significantly greater than the mean weight of whole FV taken (114.6g, 105.0g) at the middle and high school levels (p=<0.001 and p=<0.001, respectively). Overall, less whole FV were wasted (64.4g) than cut FV (77.6g) (p=0.010). Significantly less cut FV were wasted at the elementary level, while significantly more cut FV were wasted at the middle and high school levels. The amount of cut FV consumed at the middle school level was significantly greater than the amount of whole FV consumed by middle school students. There were no significant differences in consumption at the elementary and high school level.

Serving Style Differences: Cut vs Whole FVs

After adjusting for covariates, adjusted negative binomial regression models indicated a significant difference in overall selection and waste of cut FV compared to whole FV (Table 3). Cut FVs were significantly more likely to be selected (Incidence Rate Ratio[IRR] = 1.11, 95 % CI: 1.04, 1.18) than whole fruits and vegetables, but they were also more likely to be wasted (IRR=1.20, 95 %CI: 1.04, 1.39) than whole fruits and vegetables. When adjusted by grade, significant results were found for wasted FV (IRR=0.94, 95 %CI: 0.93, 0.96) and consumed FV (IRR=1.03, 95 %CI: 1.01, 1.05), but not for selection. There was a significantly greater likelihood of female students selecting (IRR=1.03, 95 %CI: 1.00,1.06) and wasting (IRR=1.15, 95 %CI: 1.07, 1.23) cut FV than males, when models were adjusted for gender. Hispanic students were 1.06 times more likely to select cut FV (95 %CI: 1.01, 1.11), and 1.27 times more likely to consume cut FV than whole FV (95 %CI: 1.13, 1.43). Native American students wasted less FV (IRR=0.74, 95 %CI: 0.60, 0.92), and consumed more FV (IRR=1.47, 95 %CI: 1.18, 1.84) when the fruit or vegetable was cut vs whole. When models were adjusted for within-school similarities, significant differences were found for selection (IRR=1.01, 95 %CI: 1.00, 1.01), consumption (IRR=1.01, 95 %CI: 1.01, 1.02) and waste (IRR=0.98, 95 %CI: 0.98, 0.99).

When examining possible interaction effects by school level (elementary vs other, middle school vs other, and high school vs other) for the selection, waste, and consumption of FVs, only two interactions were statistically significant (data not shown): middle school students had a significantly higher effect modification for the selection of cut FVs (IRR=1.18; p=0.006) as compared to other students; and, high school students

had a significantly lower effect modification for the selection of cut FVs (IRR=0.83; p=0.010) compared to other students. No other interactions by grade level were statistically significant.

	Total	Whole	Cut	p-value
	% (n)	%(n)	% (n)	
Gender				
Male	52.2 (1160)	53.2 (91)	52.1 (1069)	0.773
Female	47.8 (1064)	46.8 (80)	47.9 (984)	
Race/Ethnicity				0.471
Hispanic	64.5 (1405)	58.7 (98)	65.0 (1307)	
White	21.2 (461)	25.2 (42)	20.8 (419)	
Black	6.4 (139)	6.0 (10)	6.4 (129)	
Other	4.5 (98)	5.4 (9)	4.4 (89)	
Native American	3.5 (76)	4.8 (8)	3.4 (68)	
Lunch Status				0.549
Free/Reduced	84.1 (1868)	82.5 (141)	84.2 (1727)	
Paid	15.9 (354)	17.5 (30)	15.8 (324)	
Grade level				< 0.001*
Elementary	43.7 (972)	27.5 (47)	46.1 (925)	
Middle	31.8 (708)	40.9 (70)	31.1 (638)	
High	24.5 (544)	31.6 (54)	23.9 (490)	

Table 2. Participant demographics and cut vs whole FV selection (n=2177)

*Indicates a statistically significant value at p<0.05 level.

	Total	Whole	Cut	p-value
	Mean +/- SD	Mean +/- SD	Mean +/- SD	
	(g)	(g)	(g)	
Fruit/Vegetable	133.9 ± 68.3	117.8 ± 62.8	135.3 ± 68.5	0.001*
selected (total)				
Elementary	119.9 ± 60.4	137.4 ± 60.4	119.0 ± 60.3	0.041*
Middle	151.2 ± 74.4	114.6 ± 71.7	155.3 ± 73.6	< 0.001*
High	136.6 ± 67.8	105.0 ± 47.8	140.0 ± 68.8	< 0.001*
Fruit/Vegetable	76.6 ± 65.0	64.4 ± 59.7	77.6 ±65.3	0.010*
wasted (total)				
Elementary	71.9 ± 54.7	89.4 ± 60.7	71.0 ± 54.3	0.025*
Middle School	84.0 ± 74.0	64.3 ± 53.4	86.1 ± 75.6	0.019*
High School	75.4 ± 68.6	42.7 ± 59.2	79.0 ± 68.6	< 0.001*
Fruit/Vegetable	57.5 ± 54.0	53.6 ± 44.9	57.9 ± 54.7	0.322
consumed				
(total)				
Elementary	48.2 ± 50.4	48.2 ± 48.9	48.1 ± 50.5	0.993
Middle School	67.3 ± 56.7	50.4 ± 48.9	69.2 ± 57.3	0.008*
High School	61.5 ± 54.0	62.4 ± 34.1	61.4 ± 55.8	0.893

Table 3. Mean weights (g) of FV selected, wasted and consumed (n=2177)

*Indicates a statistically significant value at p<0.05 level.

	Selection		Waste		Consumption	
	Incidence Rate Ratio**	CI (95%)	Incidence Rate Ratio**	CI (95%)	Incidence Rate Ratio**	CI (95%)
FV Serving						
Style						
Whole	Reference		Reference		Reference	
Cut	1.11	1.04, 1.18*	1.20	1.04, 1.39*	1.04	0.89, 1.21
Grade	1.00	0.99, 1.01	0.94	0.93, 0.96*	1.03	1.01, 1.05*
Gender	1.03	1.00, 1.06*	1.15	1.07, 1.23*	1.03	0.95, 1.11
(female)						
Race/Ethnicity						
White	Reference		Reference		Reference	
Black	1.02	0.95, 1.10	0.90	0.77, 1.06	1.16	0.96, 1.40
Native	1.08	0.98, 1.17	0.74	0.60, 0.92*	1.47	1.18, 1.84*
American						
Other	0.98	0.90, 1.06	0.76	0.63, 0.93*	0.93	0.75, 1.15
Hispanic	1.06	1.01, 1.11*	1.04	0.95, 1.15	1.27	1.13, 1.43*
School	1.01	1.00, 1.01*	1.01	1.01, 1.02*	0.98	0.98, 0.99*
Free/Reduced	1.01	0.96, 1.07	1.00	0.89, 1.12	0.95	0.84, 1.09
Price Lunch						

Table 4. Adjusted negative binomial regressions assessing the relationship between cut and whole fruits and vegetables and fruit and vegetable selection, waste, and consumption among elementary, middle, and high school students in Arizona (n=2177).***

*Indicates a statistically significant value at p<0.05 level.

** Incidence rate ratios reflect the likelihood of fruit/vegetable selection, consumption, and waste compared to the reference with all other variables held constant.

***Model adjusted for FV serving style, gender, grade level, race/ethnicity, free/reduced price lunch status, and within-school similarities

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to investigate the relationship between FV serving style and students' FV selection, waste, and consumption during school lunch. Significant findings from this study include that students are more likely to select and waste FV when they are cut compared to when FV are served whole. In this study, students selected and wasted a greater average weight of cut FV than whole FV. When broken down by grade group (elementary, middle, high school), a greater percentage of elementary students selected cut FV than middle and high school students did. A closer look at interactions between selection and consumption and grade group did not have significant findings, though. These findings can help guide future research and may help schools determine a more practical and cost-efficient way of serving FV to students, in order to increase consumption and decrease waste. School foodservice departments participating in NSLP are interested in finding better ways to increase FV consumption, since they are required by the USDA to serve FV. Knowing whether to cut or serve FV whole would be valuable information, and a relatively easy solution to implement.

The current study's finding that students were more likely to select cut FV than whole FV aligns with findings from previous research studies on cut vs whole FV in schools.^{13, 15, 70} Selection of cut FV could have been higher due to several schools preplating trays with a cut FV, and providing whole FV as an option. Of all the FV options available during this study, only eight were considered whole (15%). Therefore, students could have selected more cut FV because that was available to them more often. Olsen and colleagues studied which size and shape of FV students visually preferred.¹⁴ Future

research could investigate if there are differences in selection and consumption of the same FV served in a variety of shapes and sizes. Additionally, more research is needed to increase not only selection of FV, but also consumption.

The unadjusted finding that a greater percentage of elementary students selected cut FV than middle and high school students did does align with previous research findings that younger students prefer cut FV^{13} ; however, when examining the interactions, we actually found that middle school students selected significantly more FVs compared to other grades and there was significantly lower selection of cut FVs among high school students. Our analyses did not show other significant interactions between serving style selection, consumption, and waste and grade level. These findings demonstrate that it is important to examine data on FV selection and intake for all grade levels. Given the difference in selection by grade level, more research is needed to determine which serving style is most likely to be selected and consumed by different grade levels. Perhaps serving cut FV at high schools is not the most effective use of a cafeteria staff's time and funds, since they would need to either cut the FV themselves or pay extra for it to be pre-cut.

This study's findings differed from previous studies' findings. Only one previous study explicitly cited waste as a measure, and they found that fewer students wasted apples when they were sliced than when they were served whole.¹⁵ Our study found a decrease in waste of cut FV only when adjusted for grade and race/ethnicity. Previous literature examining cut vs whole FV did not adjust for gender, race/ethnicity, free/reduced status or age like the present study did.^{13-15, 70, 71} Previous studies found an increase in consumption of cut FV, while this study only found significant increases in

consumption when adjusted for grade, race/ethnicity and school.^{13, 15, 70} Those studies also introduced sliced fruit as an intervention, so the increase in consumption could be due item novelty.^{13, 15, 70} There are some new and interesting implications for how to increase FV consumption provided by this study. Given that so few studies have examined waste of FVs, more research is needed to replicate our findings.

Although this study provides some interesting data on cut vs whole FV selection, consumption and waste, there are some limitations to note. It was a secondary analysis of cross-sectional data using a convenience sample, so causality cannot be addressed and generalizability may be limited. There was a possibility for human error when using technology to collect digital images and weights of each tray before and after food was consumed. It is possible that students may have thrown away, given away or saved their FV before submitting their plates for post-lunch weighing, resulting in some measurement error of how much FV they actually ate. Weights were only collected on cold FV available to students, and hot FV were not considered. Selection, consumption and waste figures may have been significantly different if those items had been included, since they would have impacted the overall FV amount. Designating the fruits and vegetables as whole or cut in this study was not done using a validated method. Cut or whole designation was done based on the amount of processing the FV went through before being served. Few FV options available to students during this study were designated as whole. Therefore, the lower selection of whole FV could be attributed to the lower availability of them or an error in designation. While some trays did have both cut and whole FV on them, it was not a significant portion of the sample, so teasing out which serving style accounted for the most waste was not an issue.

Another limitation was the small sub-samples. While the initial study set out to gather data from the same number of elementary, middle and high school students, there were fewer high school students in the sample. This was due in part to non-compliance by participants, and also more of the high school students' trays being eliminated for having both cut and whole FV present. Future research is needed on high school students, since there is evidence that they are not eating recommended amounts of FV.¹⁷ The results of this study also suggest that students of Native American and Other race/ethnicities were less likely to waste cut FV, but the sample sizes of each of these demographics was small (3.5% and 4.5%, respectively). More research is needed with a greater number of students from these sub-groups.

Finally, this study did not adjust for waste from non-edible portions of FV that were left on the tray such as rinds and peels. Waste may have been greater due to the inclusion of those things in the post-lunch weighing. Future research should either remove non-edible portions from the tray prior to collecting the post-lunch weight, or calculate the yield percentage of the fruit or vegetable, and use that as the post-lunch weight. Standardized yield percentages can be found in the USDA's *Food Buying Guide for Child Nutrition Programs*.⁷⁴

It is important to note that with the passage of HHFKA, having at least one serving of fruits or vegetables on the tray became a requirement for schools to be able to get reimbursed for that meal; a serving is typically one half cup.¹¹ Schools may choose to serve the FV on every tray, or they may offer a selection of FV to students, allowing students to make a choice of which FV they want to eat.¹¹ Anecdotally, when cafeteria staff are trying to serve large numbers of students as quickly as possible, they may pre-

plate a fruit or vegetable of the day. Therefore, when examining FV selection, it is important to keep in mind that the student may not have made the selection of a cut or whole fruit. The portion of FV that students are being served is also not their decision. This could account for the high selection and high waste of cut FV in this study. Future research should control for this by ensuring each student selects the type and amount of FV that are placed on their tray.

There were strengths to this study compared to previous research on cut vs whole FV, as well. Weighing the FV on trays before and after lunch provided more objective data than visual estimations of waste would provide. There was a large variety of fruits and vegetables examined in this study, and not just apples and oranges. The sample was large and diverse, and a random selection of students were invited to participate, allowing for greater generalizability. Most plate waste studies focus on elementary or middle school students; this study includes grades 1-12, which allows for greater generalizability of findings. Participant blinding was also a strength of this study.

CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSION

FV consumption remains low among children; it's important to identify factors that promote the selection and consumption of FVs, while minimizing waste. Our findings indicated that while students were more likely to select cut fruits and vegetables during this study, they did not consume significantly more, and waste significantly less, cut FV than whole FV, as was hypothesized. The cross-sectional nature of this study limits its validity, so more controlled interventions should be done in the future to further examine the effects of FV serving style on FV selection, consumption and waste in schools. Cutting FV could be an inexpensive and practical solution for schools to increase FV selection and consumption, so further research on this topic is warranted.

REFERENCES

1. Moore LV, Thompson FE, Demissie Z. Percentage of Youth Meeting Federal Fruit and Vegetable Intake Recommendations, Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System, United States and 33 States, 2013. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 2017;117(4):545-553. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2016.10.012

2. Institute NC. "Usual Dietary Intakes: Food Intakes, U.S. Population, 2007–10.". 2014:National Cancer Institute. 2019-10-31. Accessed 2020-08-10. <u>https://epi.grants.cancer.gov/diet/usualintakes/national-data-usual-dietary-intakes-2007-to-2010.pdf</u>

3. Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 2020-2025 (2020).

4. Agriculture USDoHaHSaUSDo. 2015 – 2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans. 8th Edition ed. 2015.

5. Prevention CfDCa. *State Indicator Report on Fruits and Vegetables*, 2018. 2018.

6. Miller V, Mente A, Dehghan M, et al. Fruit, vegetable, and legume intake, and cardiovascular disease and deaths in 18 countries (PURE): a prospective cohort study. *The Lancet (British edition)*. 2017;390(10107):2037-2049. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(17)32253-5

7. Rock CL, Thomson C, Gansler T, et al. American Cancer Society guideline for diet and physical activity for cancer prevention. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*. 2020;70(4):245-271. doi:10.3322/caac.21591

8. Slavin JL, Lloyd B. Health Benefits of Fruits and Vegetables. *Advances in nutrition (Bethesda, Md).* 2012;3(4):506-516. doi:10.3945/an.112.002154

9. Dreher M. Whole Fruits and Fruit Fiber Emerging Health Effects. *Nutrients*. 2018;10(12):1833. doi:10.3390/nu10121833

10. Service FaN. *Program Information Report (Keydata)*. 2020. 2020-06-19. <u>https://fns-prod.azureedge.net/sites/default/files/data-</u> <u>files/Keydata%20March%202020%20%286-19-2020%29.pdf</u> 11. United S. *Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010*. Bethesda. MD : ProQuest; 2011.

12. Cohen JFW, Jahn JL, Richardson S, Cluggish SA, Parker E, Rimm EB. Amount of Time to Eat Lunch Is Associated with Children's Selection and Consumption of School Meal Entrée, Fruits, Vegetables, and Milk. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 2016;116(1):123-128. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2015.07.019

13. Swanson M, Branscum A, Nakayima PJ. Promoting consumption of fruit in elementary school cafeterias. The effects of slicing apples and oranges. *Appetite*. 2009;53(2):264-267. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2009.07.015

14. Olsen A, Ritz C, Kramer L, Møller P. Serving styles of raw snack vegetables. What do children want? *Appetite*. 2012;59(2):556-562. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2012.07.002

15. Wansink B, Just DR, Hanks AS, Smith LE. Pre-sliced fruit in school cafeterias: children's selection and intake. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*. 2013;44(5):477. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2013.02.003

16. Adams MA, Ohri-Vachaspati P, Richards TJ, Todd M, Bruening M. Design and rationale for evaluating salad bars and students' fruit and vegetable consumption: A cluster randomized factorial trial with objective assessments. *Contemporary clinical trials*. 2019;77:37-45. doi:10.1016/j.cct.2018.12.007

17. Merlo CL, Jones SE, Michael SL, et al. Dietary and Physical Activity Behaviors Among High School Students - Youth Risk Behavior Survey, United States, 2019. *Morbidity and mortality weekly report Supplement*. 2020;69(1):64-76. doi:10.15585/mmwr.su6901a8

18. Liu J, Rehm CD, Onopa J, Mozaffarian D. Trends in Diet Quality Among Youth in the United States, 1999-2016. *JAMA*. 2020;323(12):1161-1174. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.0878

19. Nielsen SJ, Rossen LM, Harris DM, Odgen CL. Fruit and vegetable consumption of U.S. Youth, 2009-2010. *NCHS data brief*. 2014;(156):1-8.

20. Kim S, Grimm K, Harris D, Scanlon K, Demissie Z. Fruit and Vegetable Consumption Among High School Students—United States, 2010. *JAMA*. 2012;307(2):135-137.

21. Larson N, Neumark-Sztainer D, Laska M, Story M. Longitudinal Predictors of Fruit and Vegetable Intake in Young Adulthood. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2011;111(9):A103-A103. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2011.06.387

22. Prevention CfDCa. National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2020. 2020.

23. Economic Costs of Diabetes in the U.S. in 2017. *Diabetes care*. 2018:dci180007. doi:10.2337/dci18-0007

24. Virani SS, Alonso A, Benjamin EJ, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics;2020 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2020;141(9):e139e596. doi:doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000000757

25. Horn Lv, Carson JAS, Appel LJ, et al. Recommended Dietary Pattern to Achieve Adherence to the American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology (AHA/ACC) Guidelines: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2016;134(22):e505-e529. doi:doi:10.1161/CIR.0000000000462

26. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*. 2020;70(1):7-30. doi:10.3322/caac.21590

27. Institute NC. *Financial Burden of Cancer Care*. 2019. *Cancer Trends Progress Report*. <u>https://progressreport.cancer.gov/after/economic_burden</u>

28. Agriculture UDo. ChooseMyPlate: Why is it important to eat vegetables? <u>https://www.choosemyplate.gov/eathealthy/vegetables/vegetables-nutrients-health</u>

29. Agriculture UDo. ChooseMyPlate: Why is it important to eat Fruit? U.S. Department of Agriculture. <u>https://www.choosemyplate.gov/eathealthy/fruits/fruits-nutrients-health</u>

30. Kong KL, Gillman MW, Rifas-Shiman S, Wen X. Mid-childhood fruit and vegetable consumption: The roles of early liking, early consumption, and maternal consumption. *Appetite*. 2016;105:306-311. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2016.05.033

31. de Castro JM, Plunkett SS. How genes control real world intake: palatability-intake relationships. *Nutrition (Burbank, Los Angeles County, Calif)*. 2001;17(3):266-268. doi:10.1016/S0899-9007(00)00519-0

32. de Castro JM. Varying levels of food energy self-reporting are associated with between-group, but not within-subject, differences in food intake. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2006;136(5):1382. doi:10.1093/jn/136.5.1382

33. Breen FM, Plomin R, Wardle J. Heritability of food preferences in young children. *Physiology & Behavior*. 2006;88(4):443-447. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2006.04.016

34. Pawellek I, Grote V, Rzehak P, et al. Association of TAS2R38 variants with sweet food intake in children aged 1–6 years. *Appetite*. 2016;107:126-134. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2016.07.034

35. Rosenkranz RR, Dzewaltowski DA. Model of the home food environment pertaining to childhood obesity. *Nutrition Reviews*. 2008;66(3):123-140. doi:10.1111/j.1753-4887.2008.00017.x

36. Birch LL, Davison KK. FAMILY ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS INFLUENCING THE DEVELOPING BEHAVIORAL CONTROLS OF FOOD INTAKE AND CHILDHOOD OVERWEIGHT. *Pediatric Clinics*. 2001;48(4):893-907. doi:10.1016/S0031-3955(05)70347-3

37. Wyse R, Campbell E, Nathan N, Wolfenden L. Associations between characteristics of the home food environment and fruit and vegetable intake in preschool children: A cross-sectional studyHealth behavior, health promotion and society. *BMC Public Health*. 2011;11(1):938. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-11-938

38. Draxten M, Fulkerson JA, Friend S, Flattum CF, Schow R. Parental role modeling of fruits and vegetables at meals and snacks is associated with children's adequate consumption. *Appetite*. 2014;78:1-7. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2014.02.017

39. Lee Y, Mitchell DC, Smiciklas-Wright H, Birch LL. Diet quality, nutrient intake, weight status, and feeding environments of girls meeting or exceeding recommendations for total dietary fat of the American Academy of Pediatrics. *Pediatrics*. 2001;107(6):E95. doi:10.1542/peds.107.6.e95

40. Blissett J. Relationships between parenting style, feeding style and feeding practices and fruit and vegetable consumption in early childhood. *Appetite*. 2011;57(3):826-831. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2011.05.318

41. Hoerr S, Hughes S, Fisher J, Nicklas TA, Liu Y, Shewchuk RM. Associations among parental feeding styles and children's food intake in families with limited incomes. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*. 2009;6doi:10.1186/1479-5868-6-55

42. Bante H, Elliott M, Harrod A, Haire-Joshu D. The Use of Inappropriate Feeding Practices by Rural Parents and Their Effect on Preschoolers' Fruit and Vegetable Preferences and Intake. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*. 2008;40(1):28-33. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2007.02.007

43. Benton D. Role of parents in the determination of the food preferences of children and the development of obesity. *International journal of obesity*. 2004;28(7):858. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0802532

44. Galloway AT, Fiorito LM, Francis LA, Birch LL. 'Finish your soup': Counterproductive effects of pressuring children to eat on intake and affect. *Appetite*. 2006;46(3):318-323. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2006.01.019

45. Paulin G. *Meal Appeal: Patterns Of Expenditures On Food Away From Home*. 2020. Accessed 2020-08-15. <u>https://www.bls.gov/spotlight/2020/food-away-from-home.pdf</u>

46. Adair LS, Popkin BM. Are Child Eating Patterns Being Transformed Globally? *Obesity research*. 2005;13(7):1281-1299. doi:10.1038/oby.2005.153

47. French S, Story M, Neumark-Sztainer D, Fulkerson J, Hannan P. Fast food restaurant use among adolescents: associations with nutrient intake, food choices and behavioral and psychosocial variables. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Disorders*. 2001;25(12):1823-1833. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0801820

48. Coon KA, Goldberg J, Rogers BL, Tucker KL. Relationships between use of television during meals and children's food consumption patterns. *Pediatrics*. 2001;107(1):E7. doi:10.1542/peds.107.1.e7

49. Fulkerson JA, Larson N, Horning M, Neumark-Sztainer D. A Review of Associations Between Family or Shared Meal Frequency and Dietary and Weight Status Outcomes Across the Lifespan. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*. 2014;46(1):2-19. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2013.07.012

50. Dovey TM, Staples PA, Gibson EL, Halford JCG. Food neophobia and 'picky/fussy' eating in children: A review. *Appetite*. 2008/03/01/ 2008;50(2):181-193. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2007.09.009</u>

51. Kalat JW, Rozin P. "Learned safety" as a mechanism in long-delay taste-aversion learning in rats. *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology*. 1973;83(2):198-207. doi:10.1037/h0034424

52. Birch LL, McPhee L, Shoba BC, Pirok E, Steinberg L. What kind of exposure reduces children's food neophobia? *Appetite*. 1987;9(3):171-178. doi:10.1016/S0195-6663(87)80011-9

53. Wardle J, Herrera ML, Cooke L, Gibson EL. Modifying children's food preferences: the effects of exposure and reward on acceptance of an unfamiliar vegetable. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2003;57(2):341-348. doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601541

54. Maier A, Chabanet C, Schaal B, Issanchou S, Leathwood P. Effects of repeated exposure on acceptance of initially disliked vegetables in 7-month old infants. *Food Quality and Preference*. 2007;18(8):1023-1032. doi:10.1016/j.foodqual.2007.04.005

55. Rasmussen M, Krolner R, Klepp KI, et al. Determinants of fruit and vegetable consumption among children and adolescents: a review of the literature. Part I: quantitative studies. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*. 2006;3(1)doi:10.1186/1479-5868-3-22

56. Patrick H, Nicklas TA, Hughes SO, Morales M. The benefits of authoritative feeding style: caregiver feeding styles and children's food consumption patterns. *Appetite*. 2005;44(2):243-249. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2002.07.001

57. Ding D, Sallis JF, Norman GJ, et al. Community Food Environment, Home Food Environment, and Fruit and Vegetable Intake of Children and Adolescents. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*. 2012;44(6):634-638. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2010.07.003

58. U.S. Department of Education NCfES. *Digest of Education Statistics*, 2018 2019. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d18/ch_1.asp

59. Brixey E. 50-State Comparison: Instructional Time Policies - Education Commission of the States. Updated 2020-01-15. Accessed 2020-08-10, 2020. https://www.ecs.org/50-state-comparison-instructional-time-policies/

60. Service UsFaN. *The National School Lunch Program*. 2017. Accessed 2020-08-25. <u>https://fns-prod.azureedge.net/sites/default/files/resource-files/NSLPFactSheet.pdf</u>

61. Kinderknecht K, Harris C, Jones-Smith J. Association of the Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act With Dietary Quality Among Children in the US National School Lunch Program. *JAMA*. 2020;324(4):359-368. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.9517

62. Patterson J, Saidel M. Nutrition Education Provided by a Registered Dietitian to 2 nd Grade Students in School Results in an Increase in Nutrition Knowledge and an Increase in Selection of Fruits and Vegetables in the School Cafeteria. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2010;110(9):A92-A92. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2010.06.344

63. Patterson J, Saidel M. Cafeteria Nutrition Promotions Developed by a Registered Dietitian for Elementary School Students Results in an Increase in Selection of Fruits and Vegetables in the School Cafeteria. 2011. p. A64-A64.

64. Blanchette L, Brug J. Determinants of fruit and vegetable consumption among 6-12-year-old children and effective interventions to increase consumption. *Journal of human nutrition and dietetics*. 2005;18(6):431-443. doi:10.1111/j.1365-277x.2005.00648.x

65. Potter SC, Schneider D, Coyle KK, May G, Robin L, Seymour J. What Works? Process Evaluation of a School-Based Fruit and Vegetable Distribution Program in Mississippi. *Journal of School Health*. 2011;81(4):202-211. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2010.00580.x

66. Hanks AS, Just DR, Smith LE, Wansink B. Healthy convenience: nudging students toward healthier choices in the lunchroom. *Journal of Public Health*. 2012;34(3):370-376. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fds003

67. Nanney MS, Maclehose R, Kubik MY, Davey CS, Coombes B, Nelson TF. Recommended school policies are associated with student sugary drink and fruit and vegetable intake. *Preventive medicine*. 2014;62:179-181. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.01.026

68. Aarestrup AK, Jørgensen TS, Jørgensen SE, Hoelscher DM, Due P, Krølner R. Implementation of strategies to increase adolescents' access to fruit and vegetables at school: Process evaluation findings from the Boost study. *BMC Public Health*. 2015;15(1):86-86. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-1399-9

69. Cohen J, Jahn J, Richardson S, Parker E, Rimm E. Impact of School Lunch Period Length on Meal Consumption. *Faseb J*. 2015;29

70. Thompson E, Johnson DC, Leite-Bennett A, Ding Y, Mehrotra K. The Impact of Multiple Strategies to Encourage Fruit and Vegetable Consumption During School Lunch. *Journal of School Health*. 2017;87(8):616-622. doi:10.1111/josh.12533

71. Von Germeten J-P, Hirsch S. Pre-sliced or do it yourself? – Determinants of schoolchildren's acceptance of convenience fruits and vegetables. *Food Quality and Preference*. 2015;44:1-11. doi:10.1016/j.foodqual.2015.03.006

72. Handforth KM, Gilboy MB, Harris J, Melia N. Fruit and Vegetable Plate Waste Among Students in a Suburban School District Participating in the National School Lunch Program. The Journal of Child Nutrition and Management. 2016;40(1)

73. Ang IY, Wolf RL, Kock PA, al e. *School Lunch Environmental Factors Impacting Fruit and Vegetable Consumption. Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*. 2019;51(1):68-79.

74. *Food buying guide for child nutrition programs*. Revised 2020 ed. PA ; no 1331. U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service; 2001.

APPENDIX A

INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL

Knowledge Enterprise Development

50

APPROVAL: MODIFICATION

Meredith Bruening Nutrition 602/827-2266 Meg.Bruening@asu.edu

Dear <u>Meredith Bruening</u>:

Type of Review:	Modification / Update		
Title:	Salad bars and students' fruit and vegetable consumption: A group-randomized trial with objective assessments		
Investigator:	Meredith Bruening		
IRB ID:	STUDY00005882		
Funding:	Name: HHS-NIH: National Heart, Lung, & Blood Institute (NHLBI)		
Grant Title:	None		
Grant ID:	None		
Documents Reviewed:	None		

On 3/10/2021 the ASU IRB reviewed the following protocol:

The IRB approved the modification.

When consent is appropriate, you must use final, watermarked versions available under the "Documents" tab in ERA-IRB.

In conducting this protocol you are required to follow the requirements listed in the INVESTIGATOR MANUAL (HRP-103).

Sincerely,

IRB Administrator

cc: Marc Adams Amanda Jochimsen Rebecca Ruditser Madeleine De Brabant Erika Sanchez-Gomez Dahlia Stott Carly Thunberg Corey Ball **Emerson Armstrong** Karen Victor Martha Ormeno Lopez Madeline Badalamenti Rachel Harmon Haneen Mustafa Timothy Richards Michael Royer Sanjana Kumar Rafael Quijada Castillo Zulema Marquez Kenzie Wood Abigail Burnell Samantha Blonder **Christine Phillips** Tianna Baker Daisy Cruz Nora Hall Merine James Aleksander Gomez Amber James Marc Adams Emilia Ferreyra Carina Liddicoat Punam Ohri-Vachaspati Hannah Tuomisto-Bell Dyanna Potter Molly Jepson Yaneli Camargo Michael Todd Elisa Rivera Hannah Muise Arriana Joy Cruz Celeste Thalheimer Joy Ren

Ashley Thorp Raevyn Xavier Alison Cantley Brianna Mackey Emily Keidel Maria Christy Renuka Vemuri Kassandra Koester Miranda Miller Dakota Cooper Tatam Kramer Rosita Vera Perez Tsung-Yen Yu Chermiqua Tsosie Amy Coulter Corrie Whisner Payton Gibson Sydney Pisano Carina Platte Alexandra Lish Courtney Villalpando Brenda Hernandez Madison Schmucker Emily Foreman